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very comfortable cabins.”"'” Guests were provided room and board for $5.00
per week,"® which would be the equivalent today of about $125 (using
a conversion factor of $1 in 1841 for just over $24.50 in 2007 dollars).!"®
According to one well-traveled guest, “The table is the best that I have
ever sat down to at any place.”'?

Dr. Graham was a genial host,'” whose establishment provided, in
addition to the baths and various other day—time activities, many after—
dinner entertainments, including a weekly cotillion conducted by a
“professor of dancing,” performances by traveling actors, and, relevant here,
a “splendid band of music.”'# During the day, this band was stationed in a
stand on the grounds: “before daylight you are awakened by the delightful
music which continues until night, when it is moved to a most splendid
ball-room where you enter dazzled by the glittering lights and interesting
company.”'?* As for the slave musicians:

Dr. Graham’s three slave boys composed the house orchestra, competing
with the professional actors for the entertainment spotlight of the resort.
George, Henry and Reuben’s musical abilities were well known throughout
the South, and for years they furnished the music for the gay dances and
cotillions held in the large ballroom at the Springs. During the fall and winter
months, Dr. Graham allowed them to go to Louisville and Lexington to play
for hire at fashionable dances and balls. In addition, they were excellent
waiters; from their long experience at Graham Springs, their services were
much in demand in the wealthy homes of the Bluegrass and on Kentucky
and Ohio river steamboats.!?*

117 Id. at 28.

118 1d. at 39.

119 Calculation, based on changes in the Consumer Price Index, performed by the
Author on July 10, 2008, using the “Measuring Worth” section of the “How Much Is That?”
Web site. Measuring Worth, Relative Value of U.S. Dollars, http://www.measuringworth.com/
uscompare/ (last visited July 10, 2008).

120 SPRINGS OF KENTUCKY, supra note 105, at 27. The young lady quoted in the text was
particularly enamored of the fact that “ice~cream in profusion” was available. /4.

Graham, at least in his early inn—keeping days, was concerned about guests making off
with food, admonishing the public: “Should there be found any one so regardless of their
own character, so inconsiderate and so unjust as to take board out of this establishment, such
are requested to avoid the society of the Springs, the pleasure of the walks and the use of
the waters.” /d. at 40 (quoting an 1828 advertisement for Graham Springs in a Lexington
newspaper).

121 Id.at 27, 45.

122 Id.at 27. “The evening meal was at seven and dancing began at eight.” /4. at 43.

123 Id. at 27 (quoting a young female guest). “The ball-room at night was a scene of
enchantment; old Dr. Graham, the proprietor, was the master of ceremonies and the life of the
party.” Id. at 29 (same).

124 Id. at 44.
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In 1837, Graham sent two of these slaves, Henry and Reuben, “to live
with Williams, a free man of color, to learn music.”'® At the time, Williams
led a band operated out of Louisville and made up of slaves, free blacks,
and German immigrants.'” When Graham sent his slaves to Williams, he
signed a paper “to give liberty to my boys Henry and Reuben, to go to
Louisville with Williams, and play with him till I may wish to call them
‘home.”'?” This paper authorized Williams “to take them to Cincinnati,
New Albany, or to any part of the south, even so far as New Orleans.”'?

While Henry and Reuben were with Williams, they went two or three
times to New Albany (an Indiana town just across the Ohio River from
Louisville), once or twice to Madison, Indiana (a town just across the Ohio
River between Louisville and Cincinnati), and once to Cincinnati, “playing
as musicians, at balls or other entertainments at those places.”'® Whether

125 Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 174 (Ky. 1844). This must have
been soon after Graham purchased them. See supra note 106 para. 2 (giving November 28,
1836, as the date that Graham purchased Henry and Reuben). At the time, Williams was one
of the 5000-7000 “free colored” living in Kentucky, who made up about one perccnt of the
state’s overall population. Se¢ KENNEDY, s#pra note 16, at 603—04.

126 Interview with Pen Bogert, Reference Specialist, Filson Historical Soc’y Library,
Louisville, Ky., in Louisville, Ky. (June 16, 2006) [hereinafter Bogert Interview].

127 Graham’s paper provided in its entirety:

Harrodsburg, August 3024, 1837.

This is to give liberty to my boys Henry and Reuben, to go to Louisville,
with Williams, and play with him till I may wish to call them home.
Should Williams find it in his interest to take them to Cincinnati, New
Albany, or to any part of the south, even so far as New Orleans, he is at
liberty to do so. I receive no compensation for their services, except that
he is to board and clothe them.

My object is to have them well trained in music. They are young, one
17 and the other 19 years of age. They are both of good disposition
and strictly honest, and such is my confidence in them that I have no
fear that they will ever act knowing wrong, or put me to trouble.—They
are slaves for life, and I paid for them an unusual sum; they have been
faithful hard-working servants, and I have no fear but that they will
always be true to their duty, no matter in what situations they may be
placed.

C GRAHAM, M.D.

PS. Should they not attend properly to their music, or disobey Williams,
he is not only at liberty but requested to bring them directly home.

C. GRAHAM

Exhibit A. No. 2, filed by defendants, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 14.
128 Id.

129 Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 174-75 (Ky. 1844); see also
Deposition of M. D. Blaique, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 52-53 (testifying, in a
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George went with them during some of these trips was disputed.’®® In any
event, the slaves’ time with Williams and their out—of-state sojourns with
him ended about two years prior to their escape in early 1841. During
the next two years, their time was divided between Graham’s resort in
Harrodsburg “during the watering season” and another of Graham’s homes
in Lexington, from where they were at “liberty to go to the neighboring
towns to play as musicians, and to give their master what they made beyond
their expenses.”!*!

The slaves’ “running off” in 1841 imposed a “great loss” on Dr Graham,
“for he, notwithstanding the high prices he has had to pay for music ever
since, has never been able to procure a band of music that gave the same
satisfaction to his company, or that managed the ball-room with anything
like the same skill.”*3 Still, Graham Springs continued to flourish for many

deposition given by a Cincinnati woman who operated dancing schools there and in Madison,
Indiana, that Reuben, Henry, and George had played at Cincinnati “at a ball given by me in
May, 1837” and also in Madison, Indiana, “the same season . . . at a ball given there by me”);
Thomas Riddell’s deposition, Supreme Court Record, suprz note 90, at 53-54 (testifying that
Reuben and Henry played two or three times in New Albany, Indiana, “during the Christmas
holydays [sic] of 1837”).

130 Grakamv. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5. B. Mon.) at 175; see also depositions cited supra
note 129. Eventually, the trial court found that George was not authorized by Graham to travel
outside the state, as Reuben and Henry had been. See infra notes 184-85 and accompanying
texts.

131 Grakam v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) at 175. The three often earned $50
or more ($1225 in today’s dollars, see supra text accompanying note 119) for a single night’s
performance. See Depositions, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 9o (testifying that a
Harrodsburg tavern keeper had “paid the sum of $50 for their services one night at a ball, and
that that sum was not an unusual price to be paid for them™); i. at 112 (testifying that Graham
“was in the habit of getting for their services from $50 to $75 per night, at large balls and
parties, and that was a customary sum for their services™); #2. at 133 (testifying that students at
near-by Bacon College had “paid to. Dr. Graham the sum of $50 for the services of said boys,
to play for them on a public occasion” and that deponent’s “father paid the sum of $55 for said
slaves to play one single night, for a ball at his father’s house, in the town of Harrodsburg”).

It was not unusual for Kentucky slaves to be hired out to earn money for their owners.
See, e.g., SLAVERY TIMES, supra note 31, at 123-26; FROST, supra note 67, at 76. In the process,
slaves might even earn a little money for themselves (e.g., for overtime work), and some
accumulated enough funds to buy their own freedom. SLAVERY TIMES, supra note 31, at 125.
One Kentucky slave put up for sale in 1849 was described as a “very good rough Jawyer . . .
not fitted to practice in the Court of Appeals or in the Court of Chancery, but take him in a
common law case, or a six~penny trial before a County Magistrate and ‘he can’t be beat.”” 4.
at 127 (quoting a slave ad in a Louisville newspaper captioned “Negro Lawyer at Auction™).

132 Peter Davis’ deposition, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 101-02; see also
Deposition of H.S. McFatridge, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 108 (testifying, in
1845, that Graham “incurred an expense annually, of at least five or six hundred dollars, in
procuring music competent to fill their place, and yet the same satisfaction has never been
given to his visitors”); Deposition of Chr. Chinn, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 117
(testifying, in 1845, “that the loss of said slaves has been a serious one to [Graham’s) watering
place, and that in my estimation they were superior musicians to any other band [Graham] has
ever had at his watering place, either French or German”); Deposition of Joseph A. Thompson,
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years thereafter. During the off-season of 1842—43, Graham erected an even
more “elegant and commodious brick hotel,” a “splendid building, costing
upwards of $30,000,” four stories high, and “now capable of accommodating
one thousand persons.”'* In 1853, Graham sold the resort and thereafter
successfully pursued other ventures.” He died in Louisville in 1885 a few
months after celebrating his 100* birthday.!*

2. TheSlaves’ Escape—In late 1840 and early 1841, Graham was spending the
off-season in New Orleans,'*® while George, Reuben, and Henry remained
at home, helping to entertain President—elect Harrison in Lexington™’ and
playing at various other events in central Kentucky.'*® Eventually they went
to Louisville,' from where they decided to escape from their Kentucky

Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 122 (“the loss sustained by complainant [Graham],
by their running off, has been of great disadvantage to the watering place of complainant; and
their place has never been supplied by any music he has been able to obtain, at from five to
six hundred dollars per season™).

133 SPRINGS OF KENTUCKY, supra note 105, at 41-42 (quoting a Graham Springs ad in
an 1845 Lexington newspaper). Using the conversion factor of $1.00/$24.50, see supra text
accompanying note 119, the $30,000 in renovations would cost about $735,000 today.

134 SPRINGS OF KENTUCKY, supra note 105, at 79 {reporting that Graham sold the resort
“[a]t the height of its prosperity in May, 1853, . . . to the United States of America for one
hundred thousand dollars . . . to be used as a United States Asylum for aged and invalid
soldiers”). After the main building burned in 1856, the government moved the old soldiers to
a facility in Washington, D.C., and sold the Kentucky property. /4. at 79, 85. In 1911, a new
owner revived the resort, but this business failed in 1934, and the property was eventually sold
for use as a hospital. /4. at 85, 96-97.

After Graham sold the resort, he “traded in Mexico, and engaged in business successfully
in various parts of the West and South, accumulating a large fortune.” THE BiocrapHICAL
ENcycLOPEDIA OF KENTUCKY OF THE DEAD aAND LiviNG MEN OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY
439 (1878) [hereinafter KENTUCKY B10GRAPHICAL]. At the age of ninety, he was described in a
contemporary book as residing “in Louisville, and is engaged with much of his former zest in
every good word and work,” iZ., which included doing research and writing about the history
of Kentucky's early days. Se¢ LouisviLLE ENCYCLOPEDIA, supra note 108, at 350.

135 See LouisviLLE ENCYCLOPEDIA, s#pra note 108, at 350.

136 See Harvey McFatridge’s deposition retaken and Deposition of George P. Richardson,
Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 35, 38.

137 See SPRINGS oF KENTUCKY, supra note 105, at 44 (reporting that, in connection with
an carly 1841 visit to Lexington by William Henry Harrison to confer with his fellow-Whig
Henry Clay after the former’s election as president, “Dr. Graham’s musical waiters were sent
over from Harrodsburg to assist in receiving the aged President—elect”).

138 See Harvey McFatridge’s deposition retaken and Deposition of George P. Richardson,
Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 35, 37-38.

139 See Deposition of George P. Richardson, Supreme Court Record, suprz note 9o, at
38.

Deponent . . . was engaged in teaching classes in dancing, in Louisville;
that knowing the said boys to be fine musicians, he saw Reuben the
leader with them, and invited them to come to his class—room to play for
his pupils, which he promised to do, but they did not come; deponent
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bondage.'® In Louisville, they boarded the steamboat Piée'! for its regular
one—day trip to Cincinnati, probably sometime in late January of 1841.1%
The Pike’s captain, John Armstrong, had “a universal custom never to take
a negro away from Louisville on board said boat, unless with his master,
or unless some reference is made to some good and respectable citizen
of Louisville.”'*® However, Graham’s slaves, who may have traveled on

then went to Williams and inquired where the boys were; Williams could
not inform deponent, but said that the boys were shy of him.

ld.

140 Another slave later wrote that, while in Louisville, he:

met three slaves of Doctor Graham, of Harrodsburg, Kentucky. Their
names were Henry, Reuben, and George; all smart, fine fellows, good
musicians and yielding the doctor a handsome income. ... “Now,” said
I, “boys, is the time to strike for liberty. I go for Ohio to—morrow. What
say you?” They pondered the question, and we all determined to start,
as a company of musicians, to attend a great 4a// in Cincinnati—and,
sure enough, it was the grandest ball we ever played for.

LEwis CLARKE & MiILTON CLARKE, NARRATIVES OF THE SUFFERINGS OF LEWIS AND MILTON
CLARKE, SONS OF A SOLDIER OF THE REVOLUTION, DURING A CAPTIVITY OF MORE THAN TWENTY
YEARS AMONG THE SLAVEHOLDERS OF KENTUCKY, ONE OF THE SO CALLED CHRISTIAN STATES OF
NorTH AMERICA 82-83 (1846).

141 The Pike, according to its owners, “has, ever since she was built, except when
prevented by ice or low water, been engaged as a regular mail packet between Louisville
and Cincinnati, leaving each city every alternative day, except for a short time in 1840....”
Answer of Strader and Gorman, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 13. The Pike began
this service about 1839. See Deposition of Alfred Downing, Supreme Court Record, supra
note 9o, at 1.

142 Witnesses varied as to the exact date that George, Reuben, and Henry made their
journey from Louisville to Cincinnati aboard the Pike. See Deposition of H S. McFatridge,
Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 24 (“about the 23d of January, 1841”); Deposition
of W.W. Collins, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 30 (“between the 25th and 30th of
that month [January, 1841]”); Deposition of Jacob Hinkle, Supreme Court Record, supra note
90, at 32 (“the latter part of the month of January, A.D. 1841”); Deposition H.S. McF atridge,
Supreme Court Record, supra note 90, at 109 (“they went off [on the Pike] on the gth of
January, year 1841”); #4. at 112 (“in the trip of the steamboat Pike of the 23d of the month
of January, 1841”); Deposition of Roger Turner, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 28
(“some time in the month of February, 1841”); Deposition of George N. Cardwell, Supreme
Court Record, supra note 9o, at 93 (“about the month of February, 1841”).

143 Deposition of John Armstrong, Supreme Court Record, supra note 90, at 44. Other
witnesses confirmed that this was Captain Armstrong’s policy and that the Pike’s officers
were “very particular” about enforcing this policy. See Depositions, Supreme Court Record,
supra note 90, at 4546, 48-49, 51, 138. As the Pike’s clerk testified: “We never carry them
unless we know them to be free, or travelling in company with their masters, or some person
of respectability. We do not take written evidence of their freedom, unless we know the
signature. We pay no attention to the common free papers that blacks carry, knowing that so
many of them are forged.” Deposition of Charles C. Bacon, Supreme Court Record, supra
note 9o, at 47.

Indeed, another runaway slave, who initially fled on the Pike along with George,
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the Pike before as part of Williams’s band,'** were able to go to Cincinnati
without being challenged, “whence they escaped to Canada.”'* (Slavery
in Canada had been abolished years before.!*) .

Kentucky slaves who managed to get into Ohio were still subject to
retrieval by their owners. Cincinnati and other Ohio River towns included
both bounty-hunters who sought to capture and return such slaves'¥
and also abolitionists whose Underground Railroad “stations” would
temporarily hide runaways while they considered whether to travel farther
north to permanent freedom in Canada.'® Indeed, sometimes the same
person would help slaves escape and then “capture” and return them to
Kentucky for the ransom."® Whether a large or small number of Kentucky

Reuben, and Henry, was later apprehended on a second trip aboard that boat and returned to
Kentucky:

[Tlhe boy Albert, who belonged to Mrs. Littell, of Louisville, and went
off at the same time and in company with the slaves in controversy, and
afterwards recovered from Canada, and sold in the South, having made
his escape to Louisville, took passage again on the same steamboat
Pike, and passed up the river on her as far as Carrolton, when he was
discovered by some gentlemen to be a runaway slave, and lodged in the
jail at Carrolton, by some one at that place, and afterward brought to
Louisville, and there lodged in jail, when his master removed him. ...

Deposition of James S. Graham, Supreme Court Record, supraz note 9o, at 84.

144 See Deposition of Alfred Downing, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 51
(testifying that, as the Pike’s clerk in 1839 and 1840, he frequently saw Williams travel on the
Pike with two mulatto musicians as part of his band: “They paid no passage, but were in the
habit of playing on said boat. The captain of said boat told deponent to let them pass on the
boat whenever they pleased, that they had a proper pass. They played on the boat for their
passage.”).

145 Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 173 (Ky. 1844); see also infra
notes 152—61 and accompanying texts.

146 Upper Canada—today’s Ontario—banned slavery by a provincial statute passed in
the 1790s. See FROST, supra note 67, at 24; see also id. at 221-33 (describing an 1833 Ontario case
that refused to return a Kentucky slave couple who had escaped to that part of Canada). As for
the rest of Canada, the British Parliament outlawed slavery in most parts of the British Empire,
including all of Canada, in the Slavery Abolition Act of 1833, 3 & 4 Will. IV c. 73 (Eng.), which
became effective in 1834. See Canada, History of, in 3 WoRLD Book ENCYCLOPEDIA 145 (2003);
Slavery, in 17 WorRLD Book ENCYCLOPEDIA 504 (2003).

147 See, e.g., SLAVERY TIMES, supra note 31, at 203-04, 207-12, 238.

148 Some of the drama of these activities is captured in ANN HAGEDORN, BEYOND THE
River: THE UNTOLD STORY OF THE HEROES OF THE UNDERGROUND RAILROAD (2002). See
also SLAVERY TIMES, supra note 31, at 218—44; FROST, supra note 67, at 24144 (describing
Underground Railroad activities in Canada).

Harriett Beecher Stowe, a Cincinnati native, based her classic Uncle Tom’s Cabin (1852)
on reports of the lives of slaves in the Maysville, Kentucky, area and on the activities of an
abolitionist Underground Railroad stop operated by Rev. John Rankin in Ripley, Ohio, across
the river north of Maysville. See SLAVERY TIMES, supra note 31, at 238-39.

149 See 2 CONNELLEY & COULTER, s#pra note 13, at 807.
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slaves crossed the Ohio River as fugitives during this period—as George,
Reuben, and Henry did—is a matter of dispute among modern historians,'*
but it is certain that thousands of American slaves did run away to freedom
in Canada during the 1830s, 1840s, and 1850s.'>!

The details of Dr. Graham’s slaves’ journey to Canada are not known,!%
but he went to extraordinary lengths to retrieve them.'* He first sent his
son, James, to search for them in Cincinnati.’® When this failed, Graham
hired three men to join him in a month—long pursuit of the slaves, which
started with a trip aboard the Prée from Louisville to Cincinnati.'> This

150 Compare HARRISON & KLOTTER, supra note 15, at 171 (arguing that the “number of
runaways and the role of the Underground Railroad have been greatly exaggerated” and citing
figures showing that, in 1850 “when Kentucky had nearly 211,000 slaves, only 96 fugitives
were reported”), with CLARK, supra note 14, at 208 (noting estimates, cfrea 1850, “that Kentucky
lost nearly 20,000 slaves annually” through the Underground Railroad); See afso 2 CONNELLEY
& COULTER, supra note 13, at 805-07 (contending that the number of fugitive slaves from
Kentucky crossing the Ohio River “greatly increased” in the latter 1830s, that “the number
of slaves carried away increased by leaps and bounds, beginning in 1841,” and that “losses to
Kentucky in runaway slaves was said to be $200,000 annually”); supra note 9o (discussing the
number of runaway slaves from Kentucky).

151 See, e.g., HAGEDORN, supra note 148, at 214 (“By the early 1840s, there were
approximately fifteen thousand former [slave] runaways living in Canada™); see also Frosr,
supra note 67, at 226 (describing how “hundreds of [black] families [went] north” into Canada
in the early 1830s); fnfra note 161 (noting that some 20,000 ex-slaves lived in Canada in
1850).

152 According to another runaway slave who traveled with them on the Pike: “We came to
Cincinnati, and the friends there advised us to go farther north. Doctor Graham’s boys struck
for Canada, while I stopped at Oberlin, Ohio.” CLARKE & CLARKE, supra note 140, at 83.

153 Graham seems to have known immediately that the slaves were engaged in an
escape attempt through Cincinnati. Bogert Interview, supra note 126. For example, he
did not bother to place any ads in the local Louisville newspapers seeking their return. /d.
(describing Bogert’s detailed study of ads for runaway slaves in the two Louisville newspapers
of that time, the Louisville Public Advertiser and the Louisville Daily Journal). Furthermore, by
early March, he had confirmed, through a conversation with the Prée’s captain, that the latter
“had taken Dr. Graham’s slaves from Louisville to Cincinnati, on the steamboat Pike . ...”
Harvey McFatridge’s deposition, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 24.

154 Depositions of James S. Graham, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 25, 32,
83. .

155 See Deposition of Isaac C. Vanarsdale, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at
97. Apparently, the reason Graham chose to travel on the Pikz was to surreptitiously gather
evidence about the Piée’s role in the slaves’ escape. According to one of Graham’s hired
companions:

[Clomplainant [Graham] conversed with some of the hands on said boat,
and ascertained the fact [that the slaves had earlier been on the Prke
during their escape], and drew Captain Armstrong, the commander of
the boat, into conversation in relation to them in my presence, who not
knowing complainant or his object, conversed freely in relation to them,
and admitted the fact, that they had gone from Louisville to Cincinnati
on said boat in my presence. . .. [Clomplainant asked whether they were
free or not; the captain then replied, that from their general appearance
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expedition followed the slaves’ trail through various Ohio towns and ended
up in Detroit,'® from where Graham crossed the river into Canada and
tried to persuade the slaves to return to Kentucky.'” Once on the Canadian
side, Graham claimed to have been set upon and nearly killed by a mob
of fugitive slaves,'*® but other accounts paint quite a different picture.'

and fine style they played, that he thought they were free, but afterwards,
understood they belonged to some gentleman owning a watering place
in Kentucky; complainant asked him whether they exhibited any pass
or free papers; to which the captain replied, that supposing them to be
free he did not ask them for any pass; complainant having ascertained
what trip they went up the river, went to the register, and called several
others, as well as myself, to aid him in getting the names of passengers
and their residence, who had been on board said boat the same trip,
that he might be able to obtain additional proof; seeing us thus engage,
suspicion arose among the officers of said boat of what we were after;
the clerk came and abruptly snatched the register from the table while
complainant was examining it, saying that it was his property, and locked
it up in his counting—room.

Deposition of H.S. McFatridge, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 109.

156 See Harvey McFatridge’s deposition, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 24
(described infra note 157); id. at 34 (testifying that Graham’s company pursuing the slaves
“had previously search [sic] through many of the towns of Ohio” and thereafter “remained in
Detroit between ten and twelve days” prior to complainant’s foray into Canada); Depositions
of Isaac C. Vanarsdale, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 27 (testifying that Graham
took “three men with him, deponent being one of the three men; that they were gone near
about one month, travelling [sic] night and day.. . . [and] he received two dollars per day, and
expenses borne”); id. at 97 (“We [expected] to overtake them at Oberlin, in Ohio, but finding
that they had left that place, we pursued them to Sandusky, and other points, to Detroit,
where we ascertained they had crossed into Canada.”).

157 See Harvey McFatridge’s deposition, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 24
(testifying that McFatridge and two others “accompanied complainant as far as Detroit, where
he remained until complainant crossed over to Canada. . . in pursuit of said slaves”).

158

Dr. Graham followed his runaway slaves to their Canadian destination,
and near Malden he was mobbed by a band of fugitive slaves. He
probably would have lost his life in the struggle had it not been for the
gallant rescue by General Ironsides, half-brother of the famous Indian
chief Tecumseh. The genial doctor from Harrodsburg returned home
“without his sleeves, lucky, so he said, that he had escaped from the fiery
fiends of perdition.”
SPRINGS OF KENTUCKY, s#pra note 105, at 45.

159 According to an 1846 book written by an ex-Kentucky slave who had traveled with
George, Reuben, and Henry during the early part of their escape, but was not an eyewitness
to the Canadian encounter:

It was well they did [go beyond Ohio to Canada], for the doctor was
close upon them, offering a large reward. He reached Detroit within
a few hours after they had crossed the ice to Malden [in Canada). He
attempted to hire some one [sic] to go over, and capture them; no one
would attempt this. He hired a man, at last, to go over and hire them
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In any event, Graham’s slaves refused his entreaties. They also rebuffed
a final effort by Graham who, after returning to Kentucky, hired “a free
man of color, named Shelton Morris, who lives in Louisville, who went to
Canada for the purpose of inducing said slaves to return home.”'$® As far as
we know, George, Reuben, and Henry spent the rest of their lives as free
men in Canada.'®!

to get on a boat, and go to Toledo, to play for a ball. Doctor Graham
was to be in the boat, when it touched at Malden. For some reason,
the boys were quite cautious, and very reluctant to go. When the wolf
in sheep’s clothing offered them five hundred dollars to go and play for
one ball, they were more suspicious than ever. When the boat touched
at the wharf, the boys were on the wharf, playing a gypsy waltz, a great
favorite of Doctor Graham’s. When the doctor found his plan did not
work, sure enough, he came out to hear his favorite singers. He landed,
and spent several days in fruitless endeavors to persuade them to return
to Kentucky.

CLARKE & CLARKE, supra note 140, at 83. See a/so Deposition of Isaac C. Vanarsdale, Supreme
Court Record, supra note 9o, at 27 (testifying that Graham “raised a company of about thirty
persons, and went to Maulden, having engaged an agent in Canada to bring the said slaves
on board the chartered boat when she landed at Malden; but the plan was defeated by being
betrayed, and that they did not get possession of the slaves, but returned home without
them.”).

At Detroit we remained about ten days, laying plans and making
arrangements for the purpose of recovering said slaves; . . . complainant
[Graham] then chartered a steamboat with officers and strong guard on
board, having engaged an agent who pledged, upon being well paid, that
he would bring them on board said boat at the wharf in Malden, but said
agent betrayed the trust reposed in him, so that, upon the arrival of said
boat, a mob of some hundred were collected upon the wharf, and it was
with some difficulty the boat escaped. Complainant having been left
alone in the midst of them, remained some three or four days, and upon
his return we came home unsuccessful . . ..

Deposition of H.S. McFatridge, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 110.

160 Deposition of H.S. McFatridge, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 24.
According to this deposition, the slaves had written a letter to Dr. Graham “in which they
informed [Graham] if he would send Shelton Morris to Canada, with money to bear their
expenses home, they would return with him.” /4. Other witnesses confirmed Graham’s
employment of Morris in this unsuccessful endeavor. See Depositions, Supreme Court
Record, supra note 9o, at 26, 86, 91-92, 98, 110.

161 One account of the slaves’ early days in Canada noted that there was a local election
going on at the time, “and the negroes being privileged to vote; great excitement prevailed.
That Col. Prince, the successful candidate for the provincial parliament of Canada, had
engaged said boys Reuben, Henry, and George to play at the polls in Alinson, opposite to
Detroit, during said election.” Deposition of Isaac C. Vanarsdale, Supreme Court Record,
supra note 9o, at 27.

For a contemporary description of the living conditions of the estimated 20,000 escaped
slaves and their children who were residing in Canada a few years after these events, see
the 1850 letter by Gerrit Smith, one of these ex—slaves, STANLEY HARROLD, THE RISE OF
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B. Tke Trial Court Proceedings

1. The Parties and their Claims.—On September 16, 1841, Dr. Graham filed
a “Bill” in the Louisville Chancery Court'® against the Piée and its owner,
Strader & Gorman, a partnership comprised of Jacob Strader and James
Gorman, both citizens of Ohio.'®® The original sworn bill was signed on
Graham’s behalf by his son James and was filed by the Louisville lawyers
Guthrie & Tyler.'®* The Pike, whose role as a defendant was reflected in
the fact that the case’s title at this stage was Grakam v. Steamboar Pike,'s

AGGRESSIVE ABOLITIONISM 189—91 (2004) (describing a few years after these events in); see
also John Davis Smith, Slavery and Antislavery, in. OUurR KENTUCKY: A STUDY OF THE BLUEGRASS
STaTE 112-13 (James C. Klotter ed., 2d ed. 2000) (setting forth an 1859 letter from an escaped
slave in Canada to his former master in Springfield, Kentucky, asking for the release of his
wife and children).

162 The Louisville Chancery Court was created by the Legislature in 1835 to “have all
the equitable and chancery jurisdiction which the Jefferson circuit court now has.” Ky. Laws
157 (Loughborough 1842). Appeals from judgments of the Louisville Chancery Court were
to be to the Kentucky Court of Appeals. /4. at 162 (section 18). A provision specifying how
to add additional parties was added as part of a series of amendments to the original enabling
act passed in 1839. /4. at 164 (section 4). Uniform rules governing chancery proceedings had
been established by the Legislature in 1796. See 1 WiLLiaM LiTTELL, THE STATUTE LAW OF
KENTUCKY 519 (1809).

163 See Bill, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 6.

The original documents of the trial court proceedings in this case are still available for
inspection at the Kentucky Department for Libraries and Archives, in Frankfort, Kentucky,
at Location #B-58-F-S-C, Box 45, Case No. 3225 (Louisville Chancery Court). The original
documents of the antebellum Kentucky Court of Appeals were lost in a fire in 1864. Interview
with Mark Stone, Supervisor, State Archives Ctr., Ky. Dep't for Libraries and Archives,
Frankfort, Ky. (Sept. 7, 2005). In this Article, all references to the Kentucky trial and appellate
court documents are to their printed versions in the record of the case in the U.S. Supreme
Court. See Supreme Court Record, supra note go.

164 See Bill, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 6. The key member of this firm
was James Guthrie, a “leading citizen” of Louisville whose earlier firm of Guthrie & Bullock
had been “the most prominent law firm in all Louisville.” FRrosT, supra note 67, at 106, 128.
Guthrie had been a member of both Houses of the Kentucky General Assembly and would
go on to preside over Kentucky’s constitutional convention in 1849 and become Treasury
Secretary under President Pierce (1853-57). See LouisviLLE ENCYCLOPEDIA, supra note 108,
at 362-63. A pro-slavery Democrat, Guthrie supported the Union during the Civil War and
served as a U.S. Senator from 1865 until a year before his death in 1869. /4 at 363. Some years
after representing Dr. Graham, Guthrie took the other side in a steamboat case involving
escaped slaves, unsuccessfully representing the steamboat defendants there. See McFarland
v. McKnight, 45 Ky. (6 B. Mon.) 500, 514 (Ky. 1846).

165 See, e.g., Order Filing Strader and Gorman’s Answer, Supreme Court Record, supra
note 9o, at 12.
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was seized,'®® with the possibility that it would be sold to satisfy Graham’s
claim.'¢’

Graham’s suit was based on the Kentucky statute passed in 1824 that
made the owners, master, and boat subject to civil liability for taking slaves
“out of the limits of this state” without the owner’s permission.'® The suit
claimed $1500 for each slave (about $36,750 today'®®) and other damages,'”
which eventually included $250 for the musical instruments and books they
took with them and $700-$1000 that Graham had expended “in fruitless
efforts to recover them.”1”!

Defendants Strader and Gorman were represented by an experienced
Louisville lawyer, Garnett Duncan,'”? who had also represented Strader

166 Seizure of the Pike took some time. The plaintiff’s first effort to do so began a few days
after the Bill’s filing on September 23, 1841, but this and two subsequent efforts failed when
the Marshal reported that the boat was “not found.” Sez Marshal’s Returns, Supreme Court
Record, supra note 9o, at 8-10. The fourth attempt succeeded, with the Marshal reporting on
November 26, 1841, that he “levied same day on the steamboat Pike, her engine, furniture,
&c.; and John Armstrong, captain of said boat, gave bond as required [$5,000], with Charles
M. Strader, as security, and restored them the boat.” Id. at 11; see also id. at 16 (describing, in
the Chancellor’s subsequent opinion, that “[t]he boat was arrested in the port of Louisviile,
on the 26 November, 1841”).

This was not the first time that the Pike had been seized, nor Strader threatened with a
damage judgment, in such a case. See Strader v. Fore, 41 Ky. (2 B. Mon.) 123 (Ky. 1841) (further
described infra note 173).

167 Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 176 (Ky. 1844).

168 See supra notes 66—67 and accompanying texts. }

169 Based on the conversion factor of $1.00/$24.50, described supra text accompanying
note 119. This was substantially more than the average price of a slave in those days. “During
the first third of the nineteenth century, a male slave in the prime working years of eighteen
to thirty—-five might cost $400-700 in Kentucky.” HaRRISON & KLOTTER, s#prz note 18, at
168. Witnesses for Dr. Graham testified that the price of a common field hand in the early
1840s was in the $800-$1060 range. See Depositions, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note go,
at 24 ($800), 105 ($1000), 112 (from $800 to $1000), 127 ($1000), 132 ($1060); see also id. at 121
(testifying that the deponent had “paid for a boy without any of their qualifications, the sum of
$1,060 in the year 1840” and opining that “the value of the slaves in controversy was enhanced
one hundred per cent., in consequence of their high musical attainments™).

170 See Bill, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 6.

171 Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 173 (Ky. 1844).

172 See Answer of Strader and Gorman, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 13
(listing “Duncan & Ripley, P.Q.” as the defendants’ lawyers); sez also Defendants’ exception
to depositions, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 74 (listing “Duncan & Ripley, PQ.” as
the defendants’ lawyers); Defendants’ exception to deposition offered and rejected, Supreme
Court Record, supra note 9o, at 81 (listing “Duncan & Ripley, PQ.” as the defendants’
lawyers).

As these filings show, Duncan practiced in a partnership with a lawyer named Ripley,
but Duncan was apparently the defendants’ main lawyer, as evidenced by the fact that he is
listed alone as handling the Kentucky appeals (see Strader’s assignment of errors, Supreme
Court Record, supra note 9o, at 56 (listing “Duncan” for Strader in the first appeal); Errors,
Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 146 (listing “Duncan, P.Q.” for the appellants in
the second appeal)) and also as participating in the U.S. Supreme Court litigation. See infra
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in another escaped-slave case involving the Piée.' On March 4, 1842,
Duncan filed an answer for the defendants, generally denying that they
had any personal knowledge of the slaves’ transport on the Piée and also
alleging that the slaves had become “free negroes” based on their prior
travels as authorized by Graham.'™

Later in March, the defendants filed an amended answer that more
specifically alleged grounds for the slaves’ freedom and attached as an
exhibit the 1837 letter from Graham to Williams authorizing the slaves’
travels in Ohio and Indiana.'® The U.S. Supreme Court’s ability to review
this case would eventually turn on the defendants’ argument that the
slaves had become free as a result of their prior travels in these two states,

text accompanying note 289 (noting the defendants’ counsel’s use of Duncan’s brief in the
Supreme Court); see also Defendants’ exceptions to deposition offered and rejected, Supreme
Court Record, supra note 9o, at 81 (listing first “Duncan & Ripley” and then “Duncan” alone
as the defendants’ lawyer).

Garnett Duncan became a member of the Kentucky bar in 1823. He would later serve
one term in the U.S. Congress (1847—49, the same term as Abraham Lincoln’s, see énfra note
262) and teach law at the University of Louisville (1846—47) when the Legislature, by Act of
Feb. 7, 1846, established there a “professor of the science of law, its history, and the law of
nations.” LEVIN, supra note 77, at 165, 768.

Duncan’s partner was apparently Charles Ripley, a Louisville lawyer who later became a
state senator (1855-59), s¢¢ 2 COLLINS & COLLINS, s#pra note 110, at 357, and thereafter served
on two committees in early 1861 whose purpose was to emphasize Kentucky’s neutrality in
the impending conflict between the Lincoln Administration and southern secessionists. 1 7.
at 67-68.

173 See Strader v. Fore, 41 Ky. (2 B. Mon.) 123, 126 (Ky. 1841). In this case, Duncan
convinced the Court of Appeals to reverse a slave owner’s jury verdict against the Piée on the
ground that the suit should not have been brought ondy against the steamship:

without making the owner or any officer of the boat a party to the bill. .
.. Strader, the owner of the steamboat in this case, ought to have been
made a defendant to the bill, and the Chancellor erred in overruling his
application to be permitted to make himself a party and defend the suit.
And we are of the opinion also, that if the owner was not on the boat at
the time of the alleged wrong, and be not, therefore, personally liable
therefor [sic], the master or other person who is personally responsible,
should also be made a defendant, for otherwise it might be possible that
damages may be assessed and enforced against the innocent owner of
the boat without any notice to the only individual personally responsible
for the alleged injury, and as against whom, therefore, the evidence
taken in this case would be unavailing and inadmissible, in a suit by the
owner for restitution or indemnity.

1d. at 124~26.

Duncan’s practice also included successfully representing at least one slave owner in such
a case. See McFarland v. McKnight, 45 Ky. (6 B. Mon.) 500, 514 (Ky. 1846) (listing “Pirtle and
Duncan” as representing the winning plaintiff).

174 See Answer of Strader and Gorman, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 12-13.

175 See Amended Answer, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 13-14.
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whose anti-slavery status derived from the Northwest Ordinance and its
re—enactment as an early U.S. statute.'’

2. Pre-Trial Proceedings and Decision—The trial court proceedings yielded
a mixed result. They were presided over by Chancellor George M. Bibb,
“one of the legal giants of Kentucky” during the first half of the nineteenth
century.!” Bibb was born in 1776 in Virginia, where he practiced for a
short time before moving to Lexington, Kentucky, in 1798. He was twice
appointed to the Kentucky Court of Appeals, serving in 1808-10 and
1827-29 (including periods as the chief justice during both tenures) and
was also twice elected to the U.S. Senate (1811-14 and 1829-35). When
the Louisville Chancery Court was created in 1835,'” Bibb became its first
chancellor. He served until 1844, when President Tyler appointed him
Secretary of the Treasury.'”

Pursuant to Chancellor Bibb’s orders, the parties took numerous
depositions from witnesses from early 1842 through the summer of 1843.'%
Williams, the free black to whom Dr. Graham had entrusted Henry and
Reuben beginning in 1837, was not one of those deposed, presumably
because Kentucky law barred a negro from testifying in a case involving
whites.” Nor were depositions taken of the plaintiff or the individual
defendants, because in those days a person having an interest in a case was
not competent to testify.'®

176 See Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 179. The Northwest
Ordinance and its re—enactment by the first Congress are described s#pra notes 20-24 and
accompanying texts.

177 LEVIN, supra note 77, at 76. The description of Bibb in the remainder of this textual
paragraph is from id. at 76—77, and KENTUCKY BIOGRAPHICAL, supra note 134, at 394-95.

178 See supra note 162.

179 After the Tyler administration, Bibb remained in Washington and practiced law there
unti! he died in 1859, a period during which he was chief clerk of the Department of Justice
(essentially equivalent to being an assistant Attorney General today). LEVIN, supra note 77, at
77; see also SWISHER, supra note 4, at 779 (discussing an 1855 case that Bibb successfully argued
in the Supreme Court and describing him as “shrewd” and “a gentleman of the old school,
never having abandoned the garb of knee breeches in court appearances™).

180 See Order, Leave Granted Complainant to Retake Depositions, and Order Opening
Commission, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 15; see also id. at 23-56 (setting forth a
total of twenty—five depositions taken by both sides).

181 See 2 LITTELL & SWIGERT, supra note 36, at 1150 (quoting section 2 of Kentucky’s
1798 slave law as providing: “No negro or mulatto shall be a witness, except in pleas of the
commonwealth against negroes or mulattoes, or in civil pleas where negroes or mulattoes
alone shall be parties.”); see also HARRISON & KLOTTER, supra note 15, at 169 (noting that, in
antebellum Kentucky, the “testimony of blacks was usually not accepted against whites™).

182 Until well past the middle of the nineteenth century, courts in the United States
followed the common-law rule of excluding “testimony by parties to the lawsuit and all
persons with a direct pecuniary or propriety interest in the outcome.” 1 KENNETH S. BROUN,
McCormick oN EVIDENCE 313 (6th ed. 2006); see, e.g., Strader v. Graham, 46 Ky. (7 B. Mon.)
633, 634 (Ky. 1847) (upholding exclusion of defendant Armstrong’s deposition on the ground
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At the conclusion of the deposition stage, Chancellor Bibb issued an
opinion that dismissed the claim as to Henry and Reuben on the ground
that the paper signed by Graham in 1837 when he sent them to Williams
had no -time limit and therefore was sufficient authorization for the
defendants to transport them to Cincinnati.'® As to George, Chancellor
Bibb “found no evidence of any license, permission, or liberty given, for
taking him on board and carrying him out of the limits and jurisdiction of
the State.”'® Therefore, according to Bibb, the facts established that the
Pike and its owners were liable “for the damages thereby caused to the
plaintiff.”"®> Bibb ordered that a jury be empanelled “to ascertain such
facts as shall be submitted to them, respecting the asportation of the slave
George, and the damages to the plaintiff thereby.”'® On March 1, 1844,
a twelve—-man jury heard evidence that was limited to the depositions.!¥’

that “he was interested, and therefore incompetent, at the time”), gff'4, 51 U.S. (10 How.)
82 (1851). This disqualification was eventually lifted by statute in Kentucky. See Joun D.
CarroLL, CiviL AND CRIMINAL CODES OF PRACTICE OF KENTUCKY § 605, at 478—79 (6th ed. 1919)
(providing that, in general, “every person is competent to testify for himself or another”).

183 See Chancellor’s Opinion, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 17-18. This
opinion also ordered suppression of the deposition of the Pske’s captain, John Armstrong, on
the ground that Armstrong was bound to the plaintiff based on the bond he had given when
the boat was originally seized. /4. at 18.

184 Id. at 18. As to the evidence that Williams “sometimes carried with him{] a third
musician,” Bibb found that that person, being “described as a very black man,” was not
George, who “is described by the witnesses as a yellow colored man.” /4. See also Defendant’s
instructions, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 22 (finding “no evidence conducing to
prove” that Graham “permitted the slave George to go to Indiana or Ohio to perform services
as a musician”).

185 Chancellor’s Opinion, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 18.

This ruling suggests that the law under which Graham sued provided for what today
would be called “strict liability” (i.e., the defendants would be liable regardless of whether
they were negligent or not in checking whether George was authorized to travel out of the
state aboard the Pike); see also supra note 173 (noting that liability might be assessed “against
the innocent owner of the boat”); ¢f. infra note 239 (noting, in subsequent Kentucky Court of
Appeals’ opinion, that the boat captain might be liable “for the loss which his act or neglect
occasioned”). Compare McFarland v. McKnight, 45 Ky. (6 B. Mon.) 500, 509 (Ky. 1846) (noting
that the offense in the steamboat statute “is in taking the slave on board the steam vessel and
transporting thereon and thereby. The transportation so done is the gist of the offense.”),
with Singleton v. Carroll, 29 Ky. (6 ].J. Marshall) 527, 531-32 (Ky. 1831) (holding that one who
contracts with a slave owner for the services of a slave for a period of time is not liable to the
owner if the slave runs away without the hirer’s negligence or fault).

186 Decree, Supreme Court Record, supra note go, at 18. The jury was presumably
empanelled pursuant to section g of the Act of 1837, 1836 Ky. Acts 106, which provided “The
damage sustained by the owner shall be ascertained in any proceeding in chancery, under
the . .. third section [referring to the substantive law], by a jury impanneled [sic] in the
court where the proceeding is instituted.” C.A. WICKLIFFE, S. TURNER, & S.S. NicHOLAS, THE
REVISED STATUTES OF KENTUCKY 143, 144 (1852).

187 See Order overruling defendants’ motion for a new trial, Supreme Court Record,
supra note 90, at 23. The twelve jurors’ names are listed. /4. at 19, 20.
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After receiving instructions from Chancellor Bibb,' the jury returned a
verdict for Dr. Graham for “one thousand dollars in damages.”'®* Both
sides filed motions requesting a new trial—the defendants on a variety of
grounds and Graham on the ground that the verdict was “too small to be
justified by the evidence”—which Chancellor Bibb denied on March 5,
1844.1%

C. The First Court of Appeals’ Decision
1. Overview.—Both sides appealed to the Kentucky Court of Appeals, then

the state’s highest and only appellate court.'” At this stage, Graham was
represented by new lawyers, Harlan & Craddock and Robertson.'” The

188 The jury instructions caused a good deal of dispute, sez Complainant’s Instructions
to Jury and Defendant’s Instructions, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 20-22,
particularly as they related to damages. See, eg., 7. at 21 (determining to give an amended
version of Complainant’s fourth proposed instruction to the effect that, in deciding George’s
fair market value, the jury may take into account his “education and skill as a house servant,
or such like useful employment of labor, . . . but that skill in music is fanciful, and not to be
taken into account”); 74, at 21 (determining to give a defendants’ proposed instruction that the
jury “must compare the chances or probability of [George’s] recapture with his value, and that
this value must be taken to be his fair market value, and not any fancy price that complainant
may have chosen to set upon him”).

189 Verdict, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 23.

190 See Order Overruling Complainant’s Motion for a New Trial and Order Overruling
Defendants’ Motion for a New Trial, Supreme Court Record, s#pra note 9o, at 23.

191 Kentucky’s first constitution provided that the state’s judicial power “shall be vested
in one supreme court, which shall be styled the Court of Appeals, and in such inferior courts
as the Legislature may from time to time, ordain and establish.” Ky. ConsT. of 1792, art. V, §
1, reprinted in 1 MICHIE, supra note 25, at 781. The Judicial Article also provided for this court
of appeals to have “appellate jurisdiction . .. with such exceptions and under such regulations
as the Legislature shall make.” Ky. CoNsT. of 1792, art. V, §5, reprinted in 1 MICHIE, supra note
25, at 782. On June 28, 1792, the legislature passed a law establishing the Court of Appeals.
See 1 LITTELL, supra note 162, at 101—10. This law was superseded by the Act of December
19, 1796, which provided, inter alia, that the court of appeals shall consist of a chief justice and
two judges (section 1) and have jurisdiction to review decisions of inferior courts by appeal or
writ of error (section 11). /4. at 560-62. The second constitution, which became effective in
1800 and lasted until 1850, adopted the same basic features as the first constitution regarding
the court of appeals and also maintained all laws then in force. See Ky. ConsT. of 1799, art.
IV, 88 1, 2, sched. (1800) (setting forth Art IV, §8§ 1 and 2, and “Schedule™), reprinted in 1
MicHIE, supra note 25, at 795, 800. As a result of a set of constitutional amendments that
became effective in 1976, Kentucky’s highest court is now the Kentucky Supreme Court, with
the Kentucky Court of Appeals acting as an intermediate appellate court. Sez Ky. ConsT. §§
109—124 , reprinted in 1 MICHIE, supra note 25, 352—95 (setting forth §§ 109-124 of Kentucky’s
current constitution).

192 See Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 187 (Ky. 1844); se¢ also
Graham’s assignment of errors, Supreme Court Record, supra note 9o, at 57 (listing “Harlan
& Craddock” for Graham).

James Harlan was born in Mercer Country, Kentucky, in 1800. He had been a
Commonwealth Attorney (1829-33) and served two terms in the U.S. Congress (1835-39) and,
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defendants were again represented by Garnett Duncan.!®® The Kentucky
Court of Appeals was made up of three judges, Ephraim M. Ewing,'*
Daniel Breck,'” and Thomas A. Marshall.!%

On October 14, 1844, the Kentucky Court of Appeals ruled for Dr.
Graham in a lengthy opinion by Judge Marshall. Thomas Marshall was
born in 1794 in Woodford County to a prominent Kentucky family—his

while representing Dr. Graham, was serving as the Kentucky Secretary of State (1840—44).
Later, he was elected to the General Assembly and served as the state’s Attorney General
from 1850 until his death in 1863. “He was a lawyer of great ability, and was one of the most
worthy and successful members of his profession in the state.” KeNTUCKY BIOGRAPHICAL,
supra note 134, at 26. “One of his sons, James Harlan, became a judge of the circuit court at
Louisviile, and another, John Marshall Harlan, associate justice of the United States Supreme
Court.” LEVIN, supra note 77, at 120. (For more on Justice Harlan, see fnfra notes 412 and
489.)

George W. Craddock, of Frankfort, was later described as “slow-moving, procrastinating,
shaggy-browed George W. Craddock, the embodiment of fairness and kindness, linked to
the irritability and pugnacity of a game cock, a living, perambulating storehouse of the basic
principles of all law, that to be unlocked required a contest.” LEVIN, s#pra note 77, at 108.

George Robertson (1790-1871) practiced as “Robertson, Harlan & Pirtle” and had been
a member of the court of appeals (Chief Justice for a time) from 1828 through 1843. See 2
CoLLINS & COLLINS, supra note 110, at 687-89. (For more on Henry Pirtle, see infra note 233
and accompanying text).

193 See Graham v. Strader & Gorman, 44 Ky. (5 B. Mon.) 173, 187 (Ky. 1844). For a
description of Duncan, see supra notes 171-72.

194 Ephraim M. Ewing was born in Tennessee in 1789. The son of a Revolutionary War
General, Ewing trained in law at Transylvania University and practiced for many years in
Russellville, Kentucky, from where he was elected to several terms in General Assembly.

In 1835, he was appointed one of the Associate Judges of the Court of
Appeals; in April, 1843, he became Chief-Justice of that Court, serving
with distinction until June, 1847, when he resigned and returned to his
private practice. ... As a lawyer, he was exceptionably successful and
popular, and managed to accumulate a large fortune. . . . [Alithough
probably not ranking as one of the most brilliant men of his State, his
solid qualities and intrinsic worth made him a leader. He was a man
of noble sentiments, and great liberality of heart. His conscientious
convictions led him to free his slaves, and start them well in life for
themselves.

KeNTUCKY BIOGRAPHICAL, supra note 134, at 56. In 1847—-49, Ewing was a Professor of Law
at the University of Louisville. LEVIN, supra note 77, at 768. He died in 1860. KENTUCKY
BIOGRAPHICAL, supra note 134, at 56.

195 Daniel Breck (1788-1871) served on the Kentucky Court of Appeals from 1843, when
he replaced George Robertson, see supra note 192 para. 4, until 1849. Breck “was a native of
Massachusetts, educated at Dartmouth, and came with a diploma, an unusual acquirement
for Kentucky in those early days.” LEVIN, supra note 77, at 520. He served many times in the
Kentucky legislature, was a member of Congress, “filled many other distinguished positions,
and was a successful banker.” /4. Breck married a sister of Robert Todd of Lexington, who
was the father of Lincoln’s wife. /4.

196 For a description of Marshall, see infra notes 197—99 and accompanying texts.



